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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
CRIMINAL NO. 21-cr-670
V.

STEPHEN K. BANNON,
Defendant.
UNITED STATES’ REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS MOTION IN LIMINE

TO EXCLUDE EVIDENCE OR ARGUMENT RELATING TO
GOOD-FAITH RELIANCE ON LAW OR ADVICE OF COUNSEL

It is a settled question that reliance on the law and advice of counsel provide no defense to
contempt of Congress, and longstanding and controlling Supreme Court and Circuit precedent
establish that neither is available to a defendant who deliberately refuses to comply with a valid
congressional subpoena. Having chosen to ignore a congressional subpoena that required him to
produce documents and appear for testimony, the Defendant, Stephen K. Bannon, cannot change
binding law now that he is facing the consequences of his decision. The Government’s motion to
exclude evidence or argument related to these defenses should be granted.

I. The Defendant’s Incomplete Factual Recitation Attempts to Conceal His Bad Faith.

The facts underlying the Defendant’s contemptuous conduct are immaterial to the legal
question of whether a good faith defense is available to him. But the inaccurate recitation of facts
in the Defendant’s opposition requires the Government to correct the record and make clear that,
regardless of what the law may require, the Defendant and his attorney, Robert J. Costello, pursued
a bad-faith strategy of total noncompliance with a valid congressional subpoena.

On September 23, 2021, the Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the
United States Capitol (“the Committee”) issued a subpoena to the Defendant for documents and

testimony. Indictment, ECF No. 1,9 7. The Defendant’s inaccurate recitation of facts begins here.
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The Defendant suggests that the Committee did not properly serve the subpoena. ECF No. 30 at
5 (“Despite not having received acceptance of service, Ms. Amerling sent an attachment to the
email that included a ‘Proof of Service’ which stated that she had ‘Served’ the subpoena on
‘9/23/21 and the ‘Manner of service” was ‘email to attorney for Mr. Bannon, Robert Costello.’”).
The email correspondence to which the Defendant refers, but does not attach to his pleading,
instead shows that the Committee asked Mr. Costello, as the Defendant’s attorney, if he would
accept service on the Defendant’s behalf and stated that it was attaching the subpoena “in the
event” he did. Ex. 1 at US-001038. The Committee by this email did not assume service complete.
The next day, September 24, 2021, Mr. Costello confirmed that the Defendant had authorized him
to accept service. Id.

When he was served with the subpoena, the Defendant was a private citizen; although he
had been a White House advisor for seven months at the beginning of former President Donald J.
Trump’s term, at the time the subpoena issued, he had not been an Executive Branch employee for
more than four years. Indictment § 6. And the subpoena sought records and testimony completely
unrelated to his time in the White House. The Committee’s cover letter to the subpoena explained
that it sought information from the Defendant because he had information relevant to January 6,
2021, including that he had been identified as present on January 5 for “an effort to persuade
Members of Congress to block the certification of the election” and was quoted as having said that
day, “All hell is going to break loose tomorrow.” Id. 9 7.

The subpoena required the Defendant to appear and produce documents to the Committee
by 10:00 a.m. on October 7, 2021, and to appear for a deposition before the Committee on October
14,2021. 1d. 9 8. It also included clear instructions for compliance with the subpoena’s demands.

1d. 99 10-14. With respect to documents, the subpoena made plain that, if the Defendant could not
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fully comply with the subpoena’s demand by October 7, he should comply to the extent possible
and tell the Committee when he could accomplish full compliance; in addition, the subpoena
directed that if the Defendant withheld documents for any reason, including a privilege, he should
provide a detailed log of such documents to the Committee. /d. 9 12. Regarding the Defendant’s
required appearance at a deposition, the Committee provided the House of Representatives’
established rules for depositions, which made clear that to assert a privilege, the Defendant had to
appear for the deposition and assert the privilege on a question-by-question basis. /d. § 14.

The Defendant’s next steps after receiving the subpoena are where the Defendant’s
narrative again leaves out important facts. The Defendant claims that the former President’s
lawyer, Justin Clark, reached out to Mr. Costello on October 5, 2021, to inform him that the former
President was invoking executive privilege. ECF No. 30 at 5. What he does not disclose is that,
in the eleven days after accepting service of the subpoena, instead of gathering and reviewing
potentially responsive records, Mr. Costello had spent the time searching for an attorney
representing former President Trump. See Interview of Robert Costello, ECF No. 28-4 at 5; id. at
7 (“Costello was not prepared to respond on Bannon’s behalf on October 7, 2021. At that time,
Costello did not know what Bannon possessed that would have been responsive.”). Mr. Costello
seemingly did so because he was trying to help the Defendant find a way to avoid compliance with
the subpoena; indeed, contrary to what the Defendant suggests to the Court, Mr. Costello told the
Government that he believed he may have attempted to contact Clark first and that, when they
finally made contact, it was Mr. Costello who may have initiated a discussion of executive
privilege. Id. at 5, 10. Moreover, although Mr. Costello claims that Clark stated that former
President Trump was “invoking executive privilege with respect to the Select Committee’s

subpoena directed to Mr. Bannon,” Costello Decl., ECF No. 30-1, q 10, as outlined below, the
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former President never properly did so, and the Defendant and Mr. Costello knew this.

On October 6, 2021, after his phone call with Mr. Costello, Clark sent him a letter, as the
Defendant outlines in his opposition. ECF No. 30 at 5. But, as is clear on the face of the letter,
nowhere in it did former President Trump assert executive privilege over any document in the
Defendant’s possession or any testimony the Defendant may be called to provide. See Gov’t Opp’n
to Mot. to Compel, Ex. 2, ECF No. 31-2 (October 6, 2021, Letter from Justin Clark). Nevertheless,
the Defendant endeavored over the next eight days to use the letter to refuse compliance, at any
level, with the subpoena’s demands.

First, the Defendant did not comply in any way with the subpoena’s document demand by
the 10:00 a.m. deadline on October 7, 2021. Indictment 4 15. The Defendant did not reach out to
the Committee to discuss the subpoena, request an extension, or provide a log of withheld records.
Id. 1In fact, by the due date, the Defendant had taken no steps to determine what responsive
materials he may possess. See ECF No. 28-4 at 7. Instead, seven hours after the Defendant
willfully defaulted on the subpoena’s document demands, Mr. Costello sent a letter to the
Committee claiming the Defendant would not comply with the subpoena because of the October
6, 2021, letter from Clark. Indictment § 16. The Defendant did this, despite Mr. Costello having
identified categories of information they understood could not possibly implicate executive
privilege, see ECF. No. 28-4 at 4, 6, 9—another fact the Defendant omits from his narrative.

The following day, on October 8, 2021, the Committee Chair responded to Mr. Costello’s
letter. Indictment q 17. In particular, the Committee Chair’s letter noted that the former President
had not actually asserted executive privilege; that, in any event, most of the documents and
testimony the Committee sought from the Defendant were not possibly covered by executive

privilege; that the Defendant was required to provide non-privileged documents and a log of
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withheld records; and reiterated the subpoena’s requirement that the Defendant appear for his
October 14 deposition and raise any privilege assertions in-person before the Committee. Id.
Finally, the Committee Chair warned the Defendant that continued willful noncompliance with the
subpoena could subject him to criminal prosecution. /d.

For several days, the Defendant did not respond to the Committee. On October 12, 2021,
a Committee Senior Investigative Counsel (“Committee Counsel”) reached out to Mr. Costello by
telephone to determine whether the Defendant would appear as required on October 14 so the
Committee could make logistical preparations. Ex. 2 at US-000360 (Interview Report, Committee
Counsel). Mr. Costello responded that the Defendant was unlikely to appear and that he would
send a letter to the Committee the following day. Id. Committee Counsel contacted Mr. Costello
by email the next day, October 13, at 12:35 p.m., asking again about the Defendant’s deposition.
Ex. 3 (October 13, 2021, Email from Committee Counsel). At the same time, and seemingly for
the first time, with the deadline looming, Mr. Costello sent an email to Clark attaching the
Committee Chair’s October 8 letter rejecting the Defendant’s pretenses for refusing to comply
with the subpoena, and writing to Clark, in part:

Apparently they do not recognize your letter to the subpoena recipients as an

invocation of executive and other privileges. I would strongly suggest that a direct

communication from you on behalf of President Trump would clarify the

President’s position with respect to the document request and the deposition

requests.
Ex. 4 at US-000999 (October 13, 2021, Email from Costello). This was not Mr. Costello’s only
recognition that the former President had not actually invoked executive privilege. As he told the
Government, over the course of the Defendant’s dealings with the Committee, Mr. Costello

reached out to Clark several times to try to have the former President make a direct invocation, but

Clark refused. ECF No. 28-4 at 7-8, 9.
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After sending the email to Clark, Mr. Costello called Committee Counsel and informed
him that the Defendant would not appear for a deposition the following day. Ex. 5 at US-000390
(October 13, 2021, Email from Committee Counsel). The Defendant claims that Mr. Costello
informed Committee Counsel in a call on October 13 that the Defendant could not appear if former
President Trump’s counsel were not allowed by the Committee to appear. ECF No. 30 at 7. But
this suggestion that he made former President Trump’s counsel’s appearance a condition of
compliance conflicts with Mr. Costello’s statements to the Government and contemporaneous
evidence. In his interviews with the Government, Mr. Costello stated that, on the call, he told
Committee Counsel only that he noticed the Committee’s rules barred attorneys other than the
witness’s from attending the deposition, and Mr. Costello conceded that he did not ask Committee
Counsel to change the rules because he noted that Committee Counsel was not in a position to do
so. ECF No. 28-4 at 6. This aligns with an email Committee Counsel sent the same day recounting
the conversation and noting that Mr. Costello inquired—but said that he did not need an immediate
answer—whether there was a way for a lawyer for former President Trump to appear at the
Defendant’s deposition. Ex. 5 at US-000389. Never did the Defendant raise the attorney rules as
an objection to the Committee. ECF No. 28-4 at 6. And, as Mr. Costello told the Government,
but does not tell the Court, never did he ask Clark if counsel for former President Trump wanted
to attend. ECF No. 28-4 at 10.

After his calls with Committee Counsel on October 13, 2021, at 5:19 that evening, Mr.
Costello sent a letter to the Committee Chair reiterating that the Defendant would refuse to produce
documents or appear for a deposition until “such time as you reach an agreement with President
Trump or receive a court ruling as to the extent, scope and application of the executive privilege.”

Indictment 9 18.
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As the Defendant recounts in his opposition, on the morning of October 14, 2021, the
Defendant failed to appear for a deposition as required by the subpoena. ECF No. 30 at §;
Indictment 9§ 19. He omits from his retelling, however, that, while he was using Clark’s October
6 letter as an excuse for total noncompliance, the former President’s lawyer was admonishing that
the Defendant not do so. On the afternoon of the Defendant’s default, on October 14, Clark sent
an email to Mr. Costello suggesting that Mr. Costello had misrepresented Clark’s position to the
Committee in his October 13 letter, writing in part:

I just read your letter dated October 13, 2021 to Congressman Benny [sic]

Thompson. In that letter you stated that ‘[a]s recently as today, counsel for

President Trump, Justin Clark Esq., informed us that President Trump is exercising

his executive privilege; therefore, he has directed Mr. Bannon not to produce

documents or testify until the issue of executive privilege is resolved.’

To be clear, in our conversation yesterday I simply reiterated the instruction from
my letter to you dated October 6, 2021, and attached below.

Ex. 6 at US-000987-88 (October 14, 2021, Costello Email Chain). Almost immediately, Mr.
Costello forwarded Clark’s message to the Defendant, writing:

This is not accurate. He definitely stated that Trump was invoking the executive

privilege. . .. I also told him to not leave anyone guessing he should send an email

to the House stating Trump’s invocation of executive privilege. I don’t know what

game Clark is playing but it puts Steve Bannon in a dangerous position. Beware.”
Id. at US-000987 As Mr. Costello told the Government, he said, “Beware,” “to warn Bannon his
failure to comply could result in a referral to DOJ.” ECF No. 28-4 at 13. Mr. Costello took no
steps, however, to contact the Committee and correct the representations he had made regarding
Clark’s directions. And despite his counsel’s warning, the Defendant took no steps to comply with
the Committee’s subpoena.

On October 15, 2021, the Committee Chair sent a letter advising the Defendant that the

Committee would meet on October 19 to consider initiating contempt proceedings and directed
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the Defendant to raise any issues regarding his noncompliance for the Committee’s consideration
by 6:00 p.m. on October 18. Indictment 9 20.

On October 16, 2021, Clark again advised Mr. Costello that Mr. Costello was
misrepresenting former President Trump’s position to the Committee—particularly with respect
to the Defendant’s decision not to appear for his deposition—writing:

Just to reiterate, our letter referenced below [the October 6 letter from Clark to Mr.

Costello] didn’t indicate that we believe there is immunity from testimony for your

client. As I indicated to you the other day, we don’t believe there is. Now, you

may have made a different determination. That is entirely your call. But as I also

indicated the other day other avenues to invoke the privilege - if you believe it to

be appropriate - exist and are your responsibility. If you haven’t already I'd

encourage you again to contact counsel for the committee to discuss it further.

Ex. 7 at US-000985 (October 14-18, 2021, Costello and Clark Email Exchange). Still the
Defendant did not comply with the subpoena. Instead, two days later, Mr. Costello asserted to
Clark, without support, that “President Trump’s invocation of those privileges absolutely limits
Mr. Bannon'’s ability to testify before Congress and provide documents.” /d. at US-000984. This,
despite Mr. Costello’s acknowledgment to the Government that it was the former President, not
Mr. Costello and the Defendant, who delineated the outlines of any claim of executive privilege
the former President may assert. ECF No. 28-4 at 4 (“Costello did not know who or what was
covered under Executive Privilege but that decision was up to former President Trump and the
courts.”). Mr. Costello also again asked Clark to confirm to the Committee that former President
Trump was asserting privileges. Ex. 7 at US-000984. Clark never did. Incredibly, even in light
of Clark’s messages, and the opportunity the Committee had offered to the Defendant to cure his
complete noncompliance with the subpoena, the Defendant still took no steps to comply.

The Defendant’s recitation of his supposed good-faith defense is irrelevant to the merits of

the Government’s motion because it is a matter of law, not fact, that bars good faith as a defense.
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But there is no doubt that, as a factual matter, the Defendant lacks one in any event—the record
above is littered with bad faith. The Defendant’s attempt to suggest his is a sympathetic case that
warrants ignoring controlling law is therefore particularly unavailing. The Court, however, need
not reach those factual issues for the purposes of the Government’s motion, because, whether
asserted in good or bad faith, the Defendant’s reliance on his and his counsel’s opinions of the law
are not available as a defense to contempt of Congress.

I1. The Defendant’s Claims that a Good-Faith Defense is Available for Contempt of
Congress are Meritless.

The Defendant wishes to raise a defense that he believed, based on his attorney’s advice,
that the Committee and its subpoena were unlawful and therefore he was excused from compliance
with the subpoena’s demands. By this defense, the Defendant concedes that he made an
intentional, deliberate decision not to appear or produce a single record. He did not fail to appear
because he mistakenly thought he was to appear on a different day. He did not fail to produce
records because he mistakenly believed that the Committee had given him an extension. He failed
to appear or produce records because he made an intentional decision to do so. Having now
admitted that he had the requisite intent under the law to commit the offense, he searches for any
way out. But the law is the law. The Supreme Court has long made clear that Congress’s authority
to conduct investigations is not subject to the legal and political machinations of its witnesses. If
it were, Congress would have no authority at all. Accordingly, the Supreme Court’s and this
Circuit’s controlling precedents clearly establish that an intentional refusal to comply, regardless
of the motive, is a contemptuous act subject to criminal sanction.

In support of his attempt to avoid controlling law, the Defendant makes several unavailing
arguments. First, he claims that one of this Circuit’s controlling precedents, Licavoli v. United

States, 294 F.2d 207 (D.C. Cir. 1961), has been invalidated. ECF No. 30 at 13. Second, the
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Defendant claims that the Government is attempting to make congressional contempt a strict
liability offense and to deny him a defense. Id. at 10, 14. Third, the Defendant claims that any
guidance this Court may find in the contempt of Court context must be ignored. /d. at 22-24. To
make his arguments, the Defendant misapplies and ignores applicable legal principles. His claims
must be rejected and the Government’s motion to exclude evidence or argument relating to good-
faith reliance on the law and advice of counsel must be granted.

A. Licavoli Remains the Controlling Law of this Circuit.

In Licavoli, the D.C. Circuit held that advice of counsel is not a defense for a defendant
who “willfully makes default.” 294 F.2d at 209. The holding is directly on point and controlling
in this case. The Defendant contests this and makes two claims in support of his position. First,
he claims that Licavoli’s holding is based on a prior Supreme Court holding in Sinclair v. United
States, 279 U.S. 263 (1929), that since has been overturned. ECF No. 30 at 13. Second, he claims
that the Supreme Court has, since Licavoli, “provided clarity” on the meaning of willfulness that
has invalidated any meaning requiring less than a defendant’s knowledge that his conduct was
unlawful. /d. The Defendant is wrong on both fronts.

1. The Relevant Holding of Sinclair Has Never Been Invalidated.

The Defendant claims that the controlling precedent in Licavoli must fall because,
according to him, it relies on the Supreme Court’s opinion in Sinclair. He is incorrect.

As an initial matter, Licavoli’s holding on the meaning of “willfully makes default” is not
based on Sinclair. Instead, the D.C. Circuit found that the Supreme Court’s decisions in United
States v. Bryan, 339 U.S. 323 (1950), and United States v. Fleischman, 339 U.S. 349 (1950), had

established that “he who deliberately and intentionally fails to respond to a subpoena ‘willfully

10
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makes default.””” 294 F.2d at 208. In Bryan (1950),' the defendant was summoned by a committee
of the U.S. House of Representatives to appear and produce records. 339 U.S. at 324-25. In

(113

response, the defendant appeared but refused to produce records because “‘after consulting with
counsel (she) came to the conclusion that the subpoena was not valid’ because the Committee had
no constitutional right to demand the books and records.” Id. at 325. After the defendant was
convicted at trial, the Supreme Court found that where the Government introduced evidence “that
respondent had been validly served with a lawful subpoena directing her to produce records within
her custody and control, and that on the day set out in the subpoena she intentionally failed to
comply, it made out a prima facie case of wilful default.” Id. at 330; see also id. at 328
(“Respondent does not and cannot, in view of the jury’s verdict, contest the finding that she
deliberately and intentionally refused to produce the papers called for in the subpoena.”).

After finding that, based on Bryan (1950) and Fleischman, willfulness in the context of
congressional contempt meant an intentional and deliberate refusal to comply with a congressional
subpoena, the Licavoli court found that the intent the Supreme Court required for willful default
was the same as that articulated by the Court in Quinn v. United States, 349 U.S. 155 (1955), for
a refusal to answer pertinent questions when appearing for testimony pursuant to a congressional
subpoena. Licavoli, 294 F.2d at 208. Having found that the two intent standards were the same,
the Court then relied on the Supreme Court’s finding in Sinclair, a case addressing a refusal to
answer questions once the witness had appeared, that advice of counsel was not a defense to that

standard. Id. at 207, 209. From its review of the relevant Supreme Court cases, the Licavoli court

ultimately concluded, “[a]ll that is needed in either event is a deliberate intention to do the act.

! Because there are two Supreme Court cases at issue in this brief titled “Bryan,” the
Government will include the year of the relevant opinion in its short cites to avoid confusion.

11
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Advice of counsel does not immunize that simple intention.” /d. at 209.

Bryan (1950) and Fleischman still stand. The Defendant does not argue otherwise.
Regardless of the status of Sinclair, therefore, Licavoli’s conclusion from Bryan (1950) and
Fleischman that “[e]vil motive is not a necessary ingredient of willfulness under this clause of the
statute,” id. at 208, is untouched. Nor does the Defendant explain why two other Circuit precedents
deciding the same issue of how willfulness is defined under the statute are no longer controlling.
Several years before Licavoli, the D.C. Circuit in Dennis v. United States, similarly rejected that
“to make out a case of wilfulness under the statute it was necessary that the Government be
required to allege and prove that the act of refusal shall have been done from a bad purpose or evil
motive.” 171 F.2d 986, 990 (D.C. Cir. 1948). A year before that, in Fields v. United States, the
D.C. Circuit affirmed the district court’s instruction to the jury that, under Section 192, “[t]he word
‘willful’ does not mean that the failure or refusal to comply with the order of the committee must
necessarily be for an evil or a bad purpose. The reason or the purpose of failure to comply or
refusal to comply is immaterial, so long as the refusal was deliberate and intentional and was not
a mere inadvertence or an accident.” 164 F.2d 97, 100 (D.C. Cir. 1947). The Defendant does not
address any of these precedents or why Sinclair’s status would have any bearing on them. Because
they still stand and are controlling law, even without Sinclair, therefore, the basis for excluding
advice of counsel still exists.

Nevertheless, the relevant holding of Sinclair, that advice of counsel is no defense to
congressional contempt, has not been overruled. In Sinclair, the Supreme Court affirmed the
defendant’s conviction for refusing to answer a pertinent question posed by a U.S. Senate
committee. 279 U.S. at 289-90. In affirming the conviction, the Supreme Court decided several

issues, including whether the committee’s inquiry had a legislative purpose, id. at 291-295;

12
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whether a resolution to continue the committee’s investigative authority was sufficient to do so
where it failed to directly reference the prior resolution, id. at 295-96; whether the question posed
was pertinent, id. at 296-98; whether the question of pertinency was for the judge or jury, id. at
298-99; and whether the defendant was entitled to present evidence that he relied in good faith on
his counsel’s advice not to answer the question, id. at 299. The Court decided each of these issues.
With respect to whether the judge or jury decides pertinence, the Court held it was a question of
law for the court. Id. at 298-299. With respect to whether the defendant could present an advice-
of-counsel defense, the Court held that he could not because the offense did not involve “moral
turpitude” and “intentional violation is sufficient.” Id. at 299.

In United States v. Gaudin, the Supreme Court held that “materiality,” as an element of the
offense under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, the false statements statute, must be determined by the jury, not
the court. 515 U.S. 506, 522-23 (1995). In holding as such, the Court directly addressed and
overturned Sinclair’s holding that pertinency was a question for the court. /d. at 519-21. The
Court, however, never overturned Sinclair’s other holdings. It did not even reference them. The
Defendant nevertheless claims that all of Sinclair was invalidated and that all of Licavoli therefore
falls. His argument misunderstands principles of stare decisis.

Courts, including the Supreme Court, recognize that, when the Supreme Court overrules
one holding in an opinion, it does not automatically overrule every pronouncement of law therein.
See, e.g., Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios, Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd., 545 U.S. 913, 932 (2005) (citing
Henry v. A.B. Dick Co., 224 U.S. 1, 48 (1912) for the proposition that a presumption arises of
intent to infringe a patent where an article sold only can be used for the infringing purpose, despite
other parts of Henry being overruled by the Court in Motion Picture Patents Co. v. Universal Film

Mfz. Co., 243 U.S. 502, 518 (1917)); Avila v. Dailey, 246 F. Supp. 3d 347, 355 (D.D.C. 2017)

13
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(citing Monroe v. Pape, 365 U..S. 167 (1961) for the proposition that individual law enforcement
officers are subject to suit under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, despite another holding of Monroe being
overruled by the Supreme Court in Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. Of City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658
(1978)). There is no basis, therefore, to conclude that, because Gaudin overturned one holding of
Sinclair, it overturned all of them.

The Defendant selectively quotes from the Court’s opinion in Gaudin to try to suggest that
the Court did, in fact, expressly overrule all of Sinclair’s holdings. But when the Defendant’s
chosen excerpts are read in context, it is clear that the Court did not. For example, the Defendant
cites the Gaudin Court’s statement that “[o]ther reasoning in Sinclair, not yet repudiated, we
repudiate now,” ECF No. 30 at 13 (quoting Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 520), as evidence that “[t]he
Supreme Court has eviscerated Sinclair in no uncertain terms,” id. What he does not cite, however,
is that the “other reasoning” of Sinclair the Court repudiates is clearly identified and delineated in
the very next sentence through the following paragraph of the opinion, and it relates only to
Sinclair’s assertion that the question of pertinency is like the question of relevance for the
admission of trial evidence and Sinclair’s assertion that materiality in perjury cases is a question
of law for the court. Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 520-21. These two propositions are irrelevant to the
issue of intent. Rejecting them, therefore, does nothing to undermine the reasoning behind the
Sinclair Court’s holding that advice of counsel provides no defense to the intent element of
contempt of Congress. The Defendant’s attempt to twist Gaudin’s holding to do so fails.

2. Bryan (1998) and Ratzlaf Do Not Overcome the Controlling Supreme
Court and Circuit Precedents.

Without any analysis, the Defendant claims that the Supreme Court’s later decisions in
Bryan v. United States, 524 U.S. 184 (1998), and Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U.S. 135 (1994),

control the meaning of “willful” under 18 U.S.C. § 192 and require the Government to prove that

14
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the Defendant knew his conduct was unlawful. ECF No. 30 at 13. According to the Defendant,
the opinions represent a “progression over time in the Supreme Court’s construction of the word
‘willfully,”” and he suggests they therefore invalidate any prior holding that “willful” in the context
of congressional contempt means an intentional and deliberate decision. ECF No. 30 at 12. The
Defendant’s conclusory assertion is incorrect.

To understand why the Defendant’s claims about Bryan’s (1998) and Ratzlaf’s effect are
wrong, it is necessary to first review the different standards of willfulness the Supreme Court has
recognized through its jurisprudence. The highest standard is that articulated in Cheek and Ratzlaf
for criminal tax and currency structuring offenses, in which a defendant’s conduct is “willful” only
if the defendant was aware that his conduct violated a specific legal duty. Cheek v. United States,
498 U.S. 192, 199-201 (1991) (applying this standard to criminal tax offenses); Ratzlaf, 510 U.S.
at 149 (requiring the government under structuring statutes to prove that the defendant knew the
structuring in which he was engaged was unlawful). In both cases, the Supreme Court’s
interpretation of “willful” grew from a concern that, without defining it by the heightened standard,
the highly regulatory offenses would ensnare innocent conduct. See Cheek, 498 U.S. at 199-200
(noting that “[t]he proliferation of statutes and regulations has sometimes made it difficult for the
average citizen to know and comprehend the extent of the duties and obligations imposed by the
tax laws”); Ratzlaf, 510 U.S. at 144-45 (expressing concern for individuals who structure
transactions for reasons other than avoiding the relevant reporting requirement).

The next level of “willfulness™ is that articulated in Bryan (1998). In Bryan (1998), the
Court held that to “willfully” violate a statute barring the unlicensed sale of firearms, a defendant
had to know his conduct generally was unlawful, even if he did not know the specific law he was

violating. 524 U.S. at 193-96.
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Finally, the Supreme Court has interpreted “willful” to require only general intent in line
with the traditional rule that ignorance of the law is no defense. In Bryan (1950), as discussed
above, the Court found that willful default had been shown where the Defendant “intentionally
failed to comply.” 339 U.S. at 330. As another example, in Browder v. United States, the Supreme
Court held that “willfully and knowingly” in the context of a statute prohibiting “willfully and
knowingly” using a passport obtained by false statements meant “deliberately and with knowledge
and not something which is merely careless or negligent or inadvertent.” 312 U.S. 335, 341 (1941).
The Court further cited its earlier opinion in United States v. Murdock, 290 U.S. 389 (1933), which
the Defendant also cites, ECF No. 30 at 11, for the proposition that “the word ‘willful’ often
denotes an intentional as distinguished from an accidental act. Once the basic wrong under this
passport statute is completed, that is the security of a passport by a false statement, any intentional
use of that passport in travel is punishable,” id. at 342; see also United States v. George, 386 F.3d
383, 388-89 (2d Cir. 2004) (Sotomayor, J.) (applying Browder’s definition of “willfully and
knowingly” to find that another provision of the same statute similarly did not require proof that
the defendant knew his conduct was unlawful); United States v. Aifang Ye, 808 F.3d 395, 399 &
n.2 (9th Cir. 2015) (same).

In neither Cheek, Ratzlaf, nor Bryan (1998) did the Supreme Court purport to re-define
“willful” as it may have been interpreted in contexts other than those under the statutes at issue in
those cases. As the Court recognized in Bryan (1998), “[t]he word ‘willfully’ is sometimes said
to be ‘a word of many meanings’ whose construction is often dependent on the context in which
it appears.” Bryan, 524 U.S. at 191 (citation omitted). Further, the Court noted that it was only
“typically” that “willful” in the criminal law referred to a culpable state of mind. /d. “Typically”

is not “always.” See Cheek, 498 U.S. at 208-09 (Scalia, J., concurring) (“One may say, as the law
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does in many contexts, that ‘willfully’ refers to consciousness of the act but not to consciousness
that the act is unlawful.”). Indeed, several courts after Cheek, Ratzlaf, and Bryan (1998), including
the D.C. Circuit, have applied the lowest standard of “willful” described above in various contexts,
recognizing that the Supreme Court did not purport to eliminate the word’s various meanings. See,
e.g., George, 386 F.3d at 390-96; United States v. Urfer, 287 F.3d 663, 666 (7th Cir. 2002) (finding
that “willfully” in a statute prohibiting “willfully injur[ing]” federal government property, 18
U.S.C. §§ 1361, 1362, required proof only that the defendants acted deliberately, not that they
knew the act was unlawful, and rejecting that advice of counsel was a defense); United States v.
Hsia, 176 F.3d 517, 521-22 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (finding that “willfully” under 18 U.S.C. § 2(b),
which imposes criminal liability as a principal on “[w]hoever willfully causes an act to be done
which if directly performed by him or another would be an offense against the United States,” did
not require that the defendant knew her conduct was unlawful); United States v. Georgopoulos,
149 F.3d 169, 171-72 (2d Cir. 1998) (per curiam) (holding that 29 U.S.C. § 186(d)(2), which
imposes criminal penalties on anyone who “willfully violates” a statute prohibiting certain
payments to union officials, did not require the government to prove that “appellants had acted
with bad purpose and with knowledge that their conduct was unlawful” but merely required a
showing of general intent); cf. United States v. Danielczyk, 917 F. Supp. 2d 573, 576-77 (E.D. Va.
2013) (reviewing the three standards of willfulness).

The Defendant cites two cases from this Circuit, Burden and Zeese, as evidence that courts
here have read Cheek, Ratzlaf, and Bryan (1998) to eliminate other meanings of “willful.” ECF
No. 30 at 13. The cases on which the Defendant relies do not support such a claim. In Zeese, the

29 ¢¢

district court recognized that, with respect to “willfulness,” “[a]s the Supreme Court hinted in

Bryan, in some cases, the government may be able to satisfy this element of the offense by relying
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on the ‘traditional rule that ignorance of the law is no excuse.”” 437 F. Supp. 3d 86, 96 (D.D.C.
2020) (quoting Bryan, 524 U.S. at 196). In Burden, the D.C. Circuit cited Bryan’s (1998) note
that willfulness has many meanings depending on the context and was deciding only the parties’
dispute as to whether Bryan (1998) or Ratzlaf/ Cheek applied to the statute at issue. 934 F.3d 675,
689-90 (D.C. Cir. 2019). The court was not asked to and did not decide whether the spectrum of
willfulness was limited to those two standards.

In any event, given that Cheek, Ratzlaf, and Bryan (1998) did not directly address the
contempt of Congress statute and did not expressly overrule the Supreme Court’s prior precedents
in Bryan (1950) or Fleischman, to find that it overruled them nevertheless, this Court would have
to conclude that the Supreme Court overruled its prior holdings on willfulness as used in other
statutes—not just in Bryan (1950), but also in cases like Browder—by implication. The Supreme
Court has made clear, however, that “[w]e do not acknowledge, and we do not hold, that other
courts should conclude our more recent cases have, by implication, overruled an earlier precedent.
We reaffirm that ‘[i]f a precedent of this Court has direct application in a case, yet appears to rest
on reasons rejected in some other line of decisions, the Court of Appeals should follow the case
which directly controls, leaving to this Court the prerogative of overruling its own decisions.’”
Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S. 203, 237 (1997) (quoting Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American
Express, Inc., 490 U.S. 477, 484 (1989)). The D.C. Circuit has followed this direction, refusing
to find on-point Supreme Court precedents overruled even where the Supreme Court itself has
expressed doubts as to its continuing viability in light of later cases. See, e.g., United States v.
Webb, 255 F.3d 890, 897-98 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (refusing to reject a Supreme Court precedent that
had not been expressly overruled even where the Supreme Court had expressed skepticism about

the prior holding in a later opinion) (citing Agostini, 521 U.S. at 237); United States v. Weathers,
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186 F.3d 948, 955-57 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (finding the court could not assume that the Supreme
Court’s discussion of the meaning of “waiver” under Fed. R. Crim. P. 52(b) in one case
“redefin[ed] sub silentio the meaning of the word ‘waiver’” under Fed. R. Crim. P. 12 and thus
overruled a prior Supreme Court precedent regarding waiver under Rule 12 where the later case
did not mention the prior precedent or Rule 12). Bryan (1950) and Fleischman are directly on
point, outlining the meaning of “willful default” under Section 192. Under the Supreme Court’s
direction, they control the meaning of willful in this case.

Aside from requiring this Court to find that the Supreme Court silently overturned its prior
precedents, the Defendant’s position also would require the Court to ignore binding Circuit
precedent in Licavoli, Dennis, and Fields that is directly on point, something it also cannot do.
“[D]istrict judges . . . are obligated to follow controlling circuit precedent until either [the Circuit],
sitting en banc, or the Supreme Court, overrule it.” United States v. Torres, 115 F.3d 1033, 1036
(D.C. Cir. 1997); see also Rouse v. Berry, 848 F. Supp. 2d 4, 10 (D.D.C. 2012) (“The decisions of
the D.C. Circuit . . . are binding on the lower courts of this circuit ‘unless and until overturned by

299

the court en banc or by Higher Authority.”” (quoting Critical Mass Energy Project v. Nuclear
Regul. Comm’n, 975 F.2d 871, 876 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (en banc)). Neither Licavoli, Dennis, nor
Fields has been overturned by the D.C. Circuit or the Supreme Court. Even if this Court were to
conclude that Cheek, Ratzlaf, and Bryan (1998) weakened the reasoning of Licavoli, Dennis, and
Fields, this Court is still bound by them. As described above, Bryan (1998), Cheek, and Ratzlaf
neither address Section 192 nor do they claim to limit other definitions of willfulness such that
they are incompatible with this Circuit’s precedents on Section 192. Where intervening Supreme

Court opinions do not address the specific statute at issue in the lower court matter, district courts

do not find the intervening opinion to have overturned controlling circuit precedent that does
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address the specific statute, even if the intervening Supreme Court opinion casts doubt on the
circuit’s prior holding. See Brookens v. Acosta, 297 F. Supp. 3d 40, 47 (D.D.C. 2018) (“[L]ower
courts . . ., out of respect for the great doctrine of stare decisis, are ordinarily reluctant to conclude
that a higher court precedent has been overruled by implication.” (quoting Levine v. Heffernan,
864 F.2d 457,461 (7th Cir. 1988)) (citing Agostini, 521 U.S. at 207)); Mdewakanton Sioux Indians
of Minnesota v. Zinke, 264 F. Supp. 3d 116, 130 n.21 (D.D.C. 2017) (“However, because the D.C.
Circuit has not yet addressed the application of [a more recent Supreme Court opinion] to §
2401(a), this Court continues to follow the D.C. Circuit’s prior conclusion until the D.C. Circuit
addresses it in the first instance.”); In re Chaplaincy, 2016 WL 541126, at *3 (D.D.C. Feb. 9,
2016) (finding the district court remained bound by circuit precedent where it spoke clearly on the
direct issue at hand even where a Supreme Court opinion addressing a similar provision held
otherwise and the Circuit had “recently questioned the continuing viability” of its prior holding)
(citations omitted). Even to the extent the Defendant may believe Bryan (1998), Ratzlaf, or Cheek

calls the controlling precedents into doubt, therefore, that is not a sufficient basis to ignore them.?

2 Even if the intermediate level of willfulness applied and the Government had to prove
that the Defendant knew his refusal to comply with the subpoena was unlawful, the advice-of-
counsel defense the Defendant proffered in his opposition still would not be available to him
because it consists solely of advice that the underlying legal duty—the subpoena’s demands—was
legally invalid. See, e.g., ECF No. 30 at 16, 18, 19; ECF No. 30-1 at 99 12, 18, 26. A good-faith
belief, whether by advice or otherwise, that a legal duty is invalid is not a defense to willfulness.
See Cheek, 498 U.S. at 204-06 (rejecting defendant’s claim that he should be acquitted because
“he believed in good faith that the income tax law is unconstitutional as applied to him and thus
could not legally impose any duty upon him of which he should have been aware,” because the
beliefs “do not arise from innocent mistakes caused by the complexity of the Internal Revenue
Code. Rather, they reveal full knowledge of the provisions at issue and a studied conclusion,
however wrong, that those provisions are invalid and unenforceable.”); Zeese 437 F. Supp. 3d at
100 (“[T]o negate willfulness, a defense must suggest that defendants were unaware that their
conduct was unlawful. A defendant’s claim that the applicable legal duties are invalid, however,
suggests that the defendant knew about the legal duties, thought about the legal duties, and formed
an opinion about those legal duties. Considered disagreement with a legal duty embodied in the
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Bryan (1950), Fleischman, Licavoli, Dennis, and Fields have direct application in this
case—they define “willful” as the term is used in Section 192 and they delineate available
defenses. Their holdings are clear in their application to this matter and must be followed.

B. “Willful Default” as Defined by Controlling Supreme Court and Circuit

Precedent Does not Create a Strict Liability Offense or Bar the Defendant
From Raising Legal Defenses.

The Defendant, likely recognizing the legal infirmity of his assertions that the Court should
ignore controlling precedent, resorts to hyperbole—arguing that defining “willfulness” as a
deliberate and intentional refusal to comply makes contempt of Congress a “strict liability” offense
and denies him his right to put on a defense. E.g., ECF No. 30 at 3, 10, 14. The Defendant
misunderstands the meaning of “willful” and the scope of his right to present evidence at trial.

As Licavoli made clear, “willfully” under Section 192 divides innocent default—a failure
to appear or produce records due to, “e.g., illness, travel trouble, misunderstanding, etc.”—from
criminal default—a failure to comply due to a deliberate decision to defy the demands of a
congressional subpoena. 294 F.2d at 208. In both circumstances, a defendant may know he is not
appearing or producing records as required. What divides them, however, is whether his failure
to do so was the result of accident or deliberate choice. Without “willfully” in the statute, any
default, for any reason, would be subject to prosecution. Of course, then, the Defendant may
justifiably be concerned that innocent conduct may be captured by the statute. But the Supreme
Court has made clear that deliberate defiance of a congressional subpoena is inherently not

innocent conduct, because a summoned witness is not the arbiter of congressional authority.

Quinn, 349 U.S. at 165-66. The definition of “willful” articulated by the controlling cases thus

criminal law is not a defense to a charged criminal violation, even where the mens rea of the
offense is willfulness.”).
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marks the appropriate dividing line and allows a defense where failure to comply is for reasons
out of a defendant’s control.

The Defendant further claims that controlling precedents on the meaning of “willful” must
be ignored because it denies him a defense. ECF No. 30 at 10 (“Now, the Government essentially
asks this Court to rule that Mr. Bannon cannot put on a defense.”); id. at 14 (“Mr. Bannon should
be afforded wide latitude to submit his defense to the jury.”); id. at 22 (“He must be allowed to
present evidence that supports any other defense based on his good-faith reliance on the law.”).
He is wrong.

As an initial matter, the Defendant confuses legal defenses and factual defenses. The
Defendant is not barred from challenging the indictment before this Court on the basis that the
subpoena or the Committee’s exercise of authority was unconstitutional or unlawful. He certainly
can do that at the motion-to-dismiss stage of this case. And it is well-established that contempt of
Congress charges cannot stand if Congress exceeds its legislative authority or encroaches on the
constitutional rights of its witnesses. See Barenblatt v. United States, 360 U.S. 109, 111-12 (1959)
(“The scope of the power of inquiry, in short, is as penetrating and far-reaching as the potential
power to enact and appropriate under the Constitution. Broad as it is, the power is not, however,
without limitations. ... [T]he Congress, in common with all branches of the Government, must
exercise its powers subject to the limitations placed by the Constitution on governmental action.”).
Such defenses are no different from those raising challenges to criminal charges on other
constitutional grounds, such as vagueness or arguments that a statute’s application in a particular
case violates a defendant’s First Amendment rights. But they are constitutional attacks raising
questions of law for the court, not issues going to the essential elements of the offense for the jury

to decide. See Gaudin, 515 U.S. at 513 (question of law are for the court).
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A good-faith defense at trial, on the other hand, is not a defense on the merits of a
defendant’s legal opinions, however he may have obtained them. By the time of trial, the merits
of those opinions have been rejected because the indictment still stands. A good-faith reliance
defense is one that negates a heightened willfulness standard by demonstrating that, despite the
inaccuracy of a defendant’s beliefs, a defendant did not hold the requisite criminal intent because
he, in good faith, relied on those inaccurate beliefs and thus believed he was complying with his
legal obligations. In the contempt of Congress context, however, because the heightened
willfulness standard is not the intent element at issue, good-faith reliance is not available as a
defense. Accordingly, while the Defendant still can raise the merits of his legal claims about the
subpoena’s and Committee’s legal validity to challenge the indictment through motions to dismiss,
once he loses, he cannot then assert good-faith reliance on those claims as a defense at trial.

The Defendant’s confusion between legal and factual defenses is evident in his misreading
of the Supreme Court’s decision in Yellin v. United States, 374 U.S. 109 (1963). See ECF No. 30
at 14. In Yellin, the Supreme Court found that a congressional committee’s violation of one of its
rules provided a basis for acquittal that the defendant could raise where the rule gave the defendant
certain rights before the committee. 374 U.S. at 122-23. Yellin also made clear, however, that
should the merits of the defendant’s claims fail, he could not raise a good-faith reliance on them
as a defense. 374 U.S. at 123. It is the first finding of the Yellin opinion that the Defendant cites
in his opposition to argue that “[t]his language supports the rule that a witness who offers evidence
of a good faith and valid reason for not complying a [sic] congressional subpoena may be entitled
to acquittal.” ECF No. 30 at 14. The Defendant combines two defenses, however—a “good faith”
defense and a defense that his constitutional objection to the subpoena actually has merit. The

Government does not dispute that the Defendant can argue the merits of his legal beliefs as a
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defense in a motion to dismiss the indictment, but the law makes clear that he cannot then rely on
his erroneous reliance on those beliefs as a factual defense to willfulness at trial.

Finally, the Defendant seems to suggest that, at the very least, he should be allowed to raise
an advice-of-counsel defense in any event because “the specific circumstances of this case further
demonstrate that advice of counsel is a core issue that must be presented to the jury.” ECF No. 30
at 15 (emphasis in original). This perhaps explains why the Defendant provides a lengthy factual
recitation of his proffered advice-of-counsel defense to answer a motion that moves to exclude the
defense as a matter of law.> But the intent standard for a particular criminal offense does not shift
with the particular facts of each case. Cf. Ratzlaf, 510 U.S. at 143 (“We have even stronger cause
to construe a single formulation, here § 5322(a), the same way each time it is called into play.”)
(rejecting that the penalty provision applicable to multiple offenses takes on a different meaning
depending on the offense to which it is applied). That the Defendant in his particular case refused
to comply on spurious claims of executive privilege has no bearing on the applicable intent
standard. Nor can the regret the Defendant’s attorney may feel in leading him down this path

change the intent standard. Cf. Maness v. Meyers, 419 U.S. 449, 459-60 (1975) (“A lawyer who

3 Of course, a proffer does not suffice to show the Defendant is entitled to have the jury
consider an advice-of-counsel defense in any event, as the Defendant still would need to
demonstrate that he made full disclosure of all material facts to his attorney before receiving advice
and that he relied in good faith on the advice he received. United States v. Gray-Burriss, 920 F.3d
61, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2019). Moreover, a defendant who asserts advice-of-counsel waives privilege,
e.g., United States v. White, 887 F.2d 267, 270 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (noting that a reliance on advice-
of-counsel defense waives attorney-client privilege); United States v. Crowder, 325 F. Supp. 3d
131, 138 (D.D.C. 2018) (“Moreover, even otherwise-privileged communications that defendants
do not intend to use at trial, but that are relevant to proving or undermining the advice-of-counsel
defense, are subject to disclosure in their entirety.” (internal quotation marks and citation
omitted)), and the counsel who offered the advice is disqualified from representation because he
becomes a fact witness, see Groper v. Taff, 717 F.2d 1415, 1418 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (affirming
disqualification of counsel where counsel was also a potential witness at trial); ABA Model Rule
of Professional Conduct 3.7(a) (“A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer
is likely to be a necessary witness.”)
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counsels his client not to comply with a court order during trial would, first, subject his client to
contempt.”). The Defendant may not like that the law renders his preferred defense irrelevant, but
that does not mean the statute unconstitutionally bars him from putting on a defense. See United
States v. Libby, 475 F. Supp. 2d 73, 91 (D.D.C. 2007) (“[A]lthough the Constitution entitles a
defendant an opportunity ‘to present [his] version of the facts . . . to the jury so it may decide where
the truth lies,” that guarantee extends only to relevant evidence.” (quoting Washington v. Texas,
388 U.S. 14, 19 (1967)) (citations omitted)). The Defendant’s attempts to justify his legal position
because his defiance occurred under what he deems special circumstances should be rejected.

C. The Defendant’s Attempts to Distinguish Contempt of Court Fail.

As outlined in its opening brief, both contempt of Congress and contempt of court, the
latter in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 401(3), require that a defendant’s contempt be “willful,” and
courts have defined the term to have the same meaning for both offenses. See ECF No. 29 at 6-7.
The Supreme Court has recognized that contempt raises the same issues whether the contempt
results from defiance of a congressional subpoena or defiance of a court subpoena. In Bryan
(1950), for example, the Court relied on contempt of court principles in its reasoning for rejecting
the defendant’s claim that her default on a congressional subpoena should be excused because the
relevant committee lacked a quorum. 339 U.S. at 330-35 (citing contempt of court cases,
including, United States v. Goldstein, 105 F.2d 150 (2d Cir. 1939); Blair v. United States, 250 U.S.
273 (1919); and Hale v. Henkel, 201 U.S. 43 (1906)). The Court addressed the two offenses
interchangeably when discussing a subpoenaed witness’s obligations:

[PJersons summoned as witnesses by competent authority have certain minimum

duties and obligations which are necessary concessions to the public interest in the

orderly operation of legislative and judicial machinery. A subpoena has never been

treated as an invitation to a game of hare and hounds, in which the witness must

testify only if cornered at the end of the chase. If that were the case, then, indeed,
the great power of testimonial compulsion, so necessary to the effective functioning
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of courts and legislatures, would be a nullity. We have often iterated the importance

of this public duty, which every person within the jurisdiction of the Government

is bound to perform when properly summoned.

Id. at 331 (citing Blair, 250 U.S. at 281 (contempt of court case); Blackmer v. United States, 284
U.S. 421, 438 (1932) (same)).

The Defendant claims contempt of court is different because it serves to keep the court
system functioning and reflects the “power inherent in all courts to enforce obedience which they
must possess in order properly to perform their functions.” ECF No. 30 at 22-23 (quoting Myers
v. United States, 264 U.S. 95, 103 (1924)) (internal quotation marks omitted). He fails to
acknowledge, however, that the Supreme Court has recognized the same purpose in contempt of
Congress. Bryan, 339 U.S. at 327 (finding contempt of Congress is a means of “vindicating the
authority of Congress to compel the disclosure of facts which are needed in the fulfillment of the
legislative function”). The Defendant also claims that contempt of court is different because it is
not a criminal prosecution. ECF No. 30 at 22 (“Contempt of court cases are different in nature
than civil actions or criminal prosecutions.”). But the Supreme Court has held the opposite, finding
that defendants in contempt of court cases are entitled to the same due process rights of any
criminal defendant. See Bloom v. State of 1ll., 391 U.S. 194, 201 (1968) (“Criminal contempt is a
crime in the ordinary sense.”) (finding a constitutional right to a jury trial for contempt of court).

The Defendant’s attempts to distinguish contempt of court from contempt of Congress
appear to be aimed instead at avoiding the inevitable result of applying the Defendant’s position
vis-a-vis the meaning of “willful” to contempt of court. The Defendant takes the position that
“willful” when used in the criminal law can mean nothing less than that a defendant knew his
conduct was unlawful. This in turn allows defendants to raise defenses that they lack criminal

intent because of good-faith reliance on the law. The consequences of this position for contempt
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of court are just as clear as for contempt of Congress, however. Litigants and witnesses could
refuse to comply with a court order to appear for testimony or produce documents by simply hiding
behind their own claims of belief or the advice of a lawyer that the order was an invalid exercise
of the court’s authority. It would be the exact “game of hare and hounds” that the Supreme Court
in Bryan (1950) found contempt charges to guard against. 339 U.S. at 331.

The Defendant’s attempts to have this Court disregard any persuasive authority it may find
in contempt of court cases are based on unfounded distinctions that this Court should reject.*
III.  Conclusion

The Defendant’s counsel asserts he is “baffled” by the notion that the Defendant would not
be able to use his supposed belief that the subpoena was legally invalid as a defense at trial. But
that is the law. It is clearly established in directly applicable and controlling Supreme Court and
Circuit precedents. Defendant was served with a subpoena and failed to do anything that the
subpoena required him to do. That was a choice he could make. But, as the Supreme Court has
recognized, it is a choice that equates to contempt. The Government’s motion to exclude all

evidence and argument of good-faith reliance on the law or advice of counsel should be granted.

* The Defendant also suggests the Court cannot look to contempt of court cases unless a
cannon of statutory construction so allows. ECF No. 30 at 4. But cannons of statutory construction
are irrelevant. The Court does not have to engage in statutory construction here. The Supreme
Court and D.C. Circuit have already defined willfulness as it is used in Section 192. Because the
definition is the same as that for “willful” in the contempt of court context, there is nothing barring
the Court from looking to contempt of court cases for examples of how the definition is applied.
That “willful” has already been defined is also why the rule of lenity is not available, as the
Defendant claims. ECF No. 30 at 12 n.4. “The rule of lenity . . . applies only if, ‘after considering
text, structure, history, and purpose, there remains a grievous ambiguity or uncertainty in the
statute such that the Court must simply guess as to what Congress intended.’” United States v.
Slatten, 865 F.3d 767, 783 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (quoting Maracich v. Spears, 570 U.S. 48, 76 (2013)).
The Supreme Court in Bryan (1950) and the D.C. Circuit in Fields, Dennis, and Licavoli have
found no such ambiguity in defining “willful” under Section 192 and finding an advice-of-counsel
defense unavailable.

27



Case 1:21-cr-00670-CIJN Document 35 Filed 03/08/22 Page 28 of 28

Respectfully submitted,

MATTHEW M. GRAVES
United States Attorney
D.C. Bar No. 481052

By:  /s/Amanda R. Vaughn
J.P. Cooney (D.C. 494026)
Molly Gaston (VA 78506)
Amanda R. Vaughn (MD)
Assistant United States Attorneys
United States Attorney’s Office
555 4th Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20530
(202) 252-1793 (Vaughn)
amanda.vaughn@usdoj.gov
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From: "Costello, Robert J." <rjc@dhclegal.com>
To: "Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov'" <Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: subpoena to Mr. Bannon
Date: Fri, 5 Nov 2021 02:22:56 +0000
Importance: Normal

From: Costello, Robert J.

Sent: Friday, September 24, 2021 1:24 PM

To: Amerling, Kristin <Kristin. Amerling@mail .house.gov>
Subject: Re: subpoena to Mr. Bannon

In response to your email of yesterday, this will advise you that [ have been authorized by Steve Bannon
to accept service of the subpoena from the House Select Committee on his behalf.

Very truly yours,

Robert J. Costello

Sent from my iPhone

On Sep 23, 2021, at 6:38 PM, Amerling, Kristin <Kristin.Amerling@mail.house.gov> wrote:

CAUTION: EXTERNAL MAIL. DO NOT CLICK ON LINKS OR OPEN ATTACHMENTS YOU DO NOT TRUST

Dear Mr. Costello,

I am following up on our conversation today in which you confirmed that you represent Stephen Bannon. I
understand that you are checking with Mr. Bannon regarding whether he will authorize you to accept

service of a subpoena on his behalf. The Select Committee to Investigate the January 6™ Attack on the
United States Capitol is today issuing the attached subpoena to Mr. Bannon for his testimony and the
production of documents to the Committee. In the event that you will accept service, I am attaching to this

SKB-000069
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email the subpoena, along with a letter from Chairman Bennie Thompson, a document schedule with

accompanying production instructions, and a copy of the deposition rules.

Please confirm whether you will accept service of this subpoena on Mr. Bannon’s behalf.

Thank you,

Kristin Amerling

Kristin Amerling

Chief Counsel and Deputy Staff Director

Select Committee to Investigate the January 6" Attack on the United States Capitol

U.S. House of Representatives

<Bannon, Stephen K. Subpoena 9.23.21.attachments.pdf>

IMPORTANT NOTICE:Beware of Cyber Fraud. You should never

wire money to any bank account that our office provides to you via email
without first speaking with our office. Further,do not accept emailed

wiring instructions from anyone else without voice verification from a known
employee of our office. Even if an email looks like it has come from this
office or someone involved in your transaction. Please call us first at a number
you know to be correct for this office to verify the information before wiring
any money. Be particularly wary of any request to change wiring instructions
you already received.

sie st i sk s sk sfe sfe sl sfe e sk s st sk sfe ste sk sfe sk sk s sk sk s ke ofe s st sk sk s sk sfe sl sk sfe e s st s sk s sk sfe s sl sfe sk ok sk sk sk s st sl sfe ke sk s st sk s sle sk s s sk sk sk
STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

The information contained in this electronic message and any

attachments to this message are intended for the exclusive use of the
addressee(s) and may contain confidential or privileged information.

If you are not the intended recipient, please notify us immediately

by email reply to sender or by telephone to Davidoff Hutcher & Citron

LLP at (800) 793-2843, ext. 3284, and destroy all copies of this

message and any attachments.
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IRS DISCLOSURE NOTICE

In accordance with Internal Revenue Service Circular 230, we inform
you that any discussion of a federal tax issue contained in this
communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written
to be used, and it cannot be used, by any recipient for the purpose of
(1) avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the recipient under
United States federal tax laws, or (ii) promoting, marketing or

recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein.
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FD-302 (Rev. 5-8-10) -1 of 5-

FEDERAL BUREAU OF INVESTIGATION

Date of entry 11/10/2021

Sean Tonolli, Senior Investigative Counsel, U.S. House of
Representatives Select Committee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on
the United States Capitol, was interviewed at the Thomas P. O'Neill Jr.
Federal Building, 200 C Street SW, Washington, D.C. He was accompanied by
U.S. House of Representatives General Counsel Doug Letter and by U.S. House
of Representative Deputy General Counsel Todd Tatelman who attended via
telephone. Tonolli was interviewed by Assistant United States Attorney
(AUSA) J.P. Cooney, US Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia (USAO-
DC), AUSA Molly Gaston USAO-DC, AUSA Amanda Vaughn USAO-DC, FBI Special
Agent Katherine E. Pattillo, FBI Special Agent Frank G. D'Amico, and FBI
Special Agent Stephen R. Hart. After being advised of the identities of the
interviewing agents and attorneys and the nature of the interview, Tonolli
provided the following information. (Tonolli was shown various exhibits
during the interview. These will be referenced when shown during the
interview and will be maintained electronically in the 1A section of the
file. The numbering convention provided by the Select Committee will be

used to identify specific pages.):

Tonolli graduated from law school in 2005 and joined the United States
Attorney’s Office (USAO) for the District of Columbia (DC) after clerking
for a federal judge. Tonolli worked as a prosecutor for the USAO DC for
approximately four years before transitioning to the Eastern District of
Virginia (EDVA). He departed EDVA in March 2014 to work for the private
firm Cahill Gordon & Reindel. He stayed with this firm until September 2021
when he joined the U.S. House of Representatives Select Committee to
Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol (the Select
Committee) team. Tonolli is senior investigative counsel for one of five
investigative teams and reports to Tim Heaphy (Heaphy). Tonolli is assigned
to the “red team” which is focused on matters related to rioters, certain
political rallies, and “war room” meetings which may have occurred in hotels

preceding ¢ January 2021. Tonolli’s team is also peripherally responsible

Investigationon 11/02/2021 a Washington, District Of Columbia, United States (In Person)

File# 72-WF-3513323 Date drafted 11/03/2021

by Katherine E. Pattillo, HART STEPHEN R, SA FRANK G. DAMICO

This document contains neither recommendations nor conclusions of the FBI. It is the property of the FBI and is loaned to your agency; it and its contents are not
to be distributed outside your agency.
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for examining the chronology of events at the White House on 6 January 2021.

Tonolli had been on staff less than two weeks when the Select Committee’s
subpoena for Stephen K. Bannon (Bannon) was issued. He was not involved in
the decision to issue the subpoena nor did he participate in drafting either
the subpoena or the attached schedule describing the range and scope of
documents requested. Tonolli was assigned to depose Bannon and has,
consequently, reviewed the subpoena, the subpoena schedule, and all official
correspondence between the Chairman of the Select Committee and Bannon’s
counsel, Robert “Bob” Costello (Costello).

When shown the Bannon subpoena and the Chairman's accompanying letter
dated September 23, 2021 (Jan. 6 Sel. Comm 0003-0010), Tonolli confirmed
that the second paragraph in the letter accurately summarized the Select
Committee’s mandate. He further confirmed that the penultimate paragraph
described prospective topics about which Bannon might be asked during the
course of his deposition. According to Tonolli, these topics all fall
within the scope of the Select Committee and many are wholly unrelated to
former President Trump. For example, Bannon’s podcast, The War Room, may
have sponsored a “Women for America First” bus tour which encouraged

attendance at 6 January, pro Trump rallies.

Tonolli explained the Select Committee staggered the production of
documents deadline and the deposition / appearance deadline to allow Select
Committee members to review any records provided as part of the deposition
preparation. In the case of Bannon, documents were required by the Select
Committee by October 7, 2021 and deposition testimony on October 14, 2021.

No responsive documents were ever provided by Bannon or any representative.

Tonolli confirmed that he was familiar with documents identified as Jan.
6 Sel. Comm. 0011-0015, correspondence between Select Committee
representative Kristin Amerling (Amerling) and Costello between October 7-8,
2021. The letter from Costello referenced correspondence he received from
Justin Clark, counsel for former President Trump. Costello quoted an
excerpt from this letter in which Clark suggests there is a subset of
documents requested by the Select Committee which may be “potentially
protected from disclosure by executive and other privileges.” Tonolli was
not aware of the Select Committee ever receiving correspondence from Clark

or anyone representing former President Trump regarding executive
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privilege. It was Tonolli’s understanding that the Chairman’s response
(Jan. 6 Sel. Comm. 0013-0015) clearly articulated Bannon was still required
to appear for his deposition, could not assert executive privilege, and
reminded Costello that Bannon had an ongoing responsibility to provide the

documents requested by the subpoena and / or a privilege log.

After determining that no one from the Select Committee had been in touch
with Costello regarding the upcoming, scheduled deposition, Tonolli called
Costello at some time after 7pm on the evening of October 12, 2021. This
was the first of three brief phone calls between the two men over the course
of October 12-13, 2021. Prior to contacting Costello, Tonolli cleared the
call with Amerling or David Buckley. The purpose of the call was strictly
to introduce himself and to discuss logistics associated with Bannon’s
appearance. Tonolli first called Costello’s office number and subsequently
reached Costello on the cell phone number provided by his office voice mail;
the call lasted approximately ten to fifteen minutes. Costello was
initially quite gruff but seemed to warm as Tonolli introduced himself,
highlighted their shared experience as federal prosecutors, and mentioned a
mutual acquaintance, Tom Kavalar. Given COVID protocols and the high
profile nature of Bannon’s testimony, Tonolli explained he wanted to ensure
that all necessary arrangements were in place for the deposition. Costello
informed Tonolli that it was “highly unlikely” that Bannon would be
appearing on Thursday, October 14, 2021. Costello mentioned that he planned
on sending a letter to the Select Committee Chairman but asked Tonolli to

refrain from sharing that information.

Tonolli’s intent upon initiating a dialogue with Costello was
exclusively to engage in discussions about the logistics of Bannon’s
deposition and he explicitly stated so to Costello; neither Tonolli nor
Costello attempted to engage in substantive legal conversation. During the
course of this call, Costello never directly referenced any communications
with Bannon although he did make several statements using the prounoun “we”
which Tonolli presumed included Bannon. Tonolli also got the sense from his
conversation with Costello that he had previously represented Bannon and

there was a certain level of familiarity in their working relationship.

During this first call or possibly on 13 October, Costello complained to
Tonolli about comments made by Select Committee member Representative Adam

Schiff in the media. Costello characterized these remarks as unhelpful but
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Tonolli did not engage him on this topic nor had he seen the news coverage
in question. They concluded their call on the 12th with no specific plans
to speak again. However, Tonolli knew he would reach out the following day
to confirm again that Bannnon and / or Costello did not intend to appear for
the scheduled deposition. Tonolli gave Heaphy a summary of this call and
may also have discussed it with Kevin Elliker (Elliker), an attorney who

sits behind him.

On October 13, 2021, Tonolli spoke with Costello twice. Both of these
calls were memorialized in two emails he sent to David Buckley, Amerling,
and Heaphy; these are identified as Jan. 6 Sel. Comm. 0054- 0055.

Costello called Tonolli at approximately 1:40pm in response to an email sent
by Tonolli. They spoke for no more than ten minutes and Tonolli put the
call on speakerphone so it could be witnessed by Elliker. Costello was
initially quite aggressive and asserted very clearly that neither he nor
Bannon had any intention of attending the scheduled deposition.

Costello also expressed frustration that former President Trump's legal team
would not respond to him and mentioned Justin Clarke specifically.

Costello asked Tonolli if the Select Committee had been in contact with
representatives of former President Trump's legal team. Tonolli shared that
he was not aware of any communications between the Select Committee and any

counsel for former President Trump.

Tonolli did not engage in any substantive conversation about the legal
merits of any privilege arguments nor did he reiterate the Select
Committee's position on these matters as articulated in the Chairman's
letters to Costello. Tonolli asked if Costello had submitted the letter to
the Chairman referenced in the previous evening's phone call given that it
might impact his preparations for the deposition. Costello said he was
still drafting the letter and would let Tonolli know when it had been sent.

Costello called Tonolli at his desk at approximately 4:10pm on October
12th to share that he expected to send the letter shortly but confirmed
again that neither he nor Bannon would be attending the depostion. This
call again lasted no more than ten minutes. Costello clearly seemed to
understand that Bannon was still expected to appear as described in the
Congressional subpoena. In fact, he distinguished between being commanded
by a court versus Congress and caveated a remark with, "if a court later

orders this to happen." Costello likened their respective situations to
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having ringside seats to a privilege showdown. During the course of the
conversation, Costello raised two issues to which Tonolli did not provide
answers. Costello was clear that he did not expect immediate answers
because neither he nor Bannon would be appearing for the deposition

regardless.

Costello asked Tonolli if there would be any way for a third party
attorney to attend the deposition to assert executive privilege on behalf of
former President Trump. Costello was aware that the Select Committee's
deposition rules prohibited third party attorneys. Costello also inqgquired
about the possibility of conducting the deposition remotely. Tonolli did
not feel obligated to lecture Costello on the consequences of his client
failing to appear given Costello's experience and seniority. Tonolli agreed
that the letter finally sent to the Select Committee Chairman by
Costello did not raise any of the issues mentioned during this call nor did
it contemplate other conditions under which Bannon might opt to

appear. Tonolli might have discussed this call with Amerling.

On the morning of October 14, 2021, Tonolli was in the room designated
for the deposition by the Congressional subpoena. Also present were a court
reporter, Elliker, Heaphy, Amerling, Select Committee parliamentarian Barry
Pump, Chief Clerk Evan Malder (ph), Samantha Stiles (ph), Chief
Administrative representative and Congressman Schiff attended virtually.
Tonolli had prepared an outline for the deposition with supporting
documentation; topics to be covered were within the scope of the Select
Committee's mission. Tonolli had also prepared a manila folder of documents
to be provided to Bannon should he appear. This manila folder contained a
copy of House Resolution 503, Section 3(b) of House Resolution 8, and a copy

of the 117th Congress Regulations For Use of Deposition Authority.

At the conclusion of the interview, Tonolli retrieved the above described
folder prepared for Bannon's deposition and provided it to SA Pattillo. An
FD~597 Receipt for Property was signed by Tonolli and a copy was provided to
U.S. House of Representatives General Counsel Doug Letter. The original
will be maintained in the 1A section of this file and the folder will be

maintained as a single 1B item.
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From: Tonolll. Sean

To: -rodidhclegat com”

Subject: Steve Bannon: Touching base about tomorrow
Date: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 12:35:00 PM
Bob,

It was good talking with you last night. And hearing your take on Tom Kavaler.

Did you end up sending your letter, or is it-on the way?

If you and your client are coming, | need to-arrange the logistics. You will need to meet with a
member of our security team, who, because of COVID restrictions, has to escortyou into and

through the building.

Canyou give me a call to discuss? My numbers are below.

Thanks,
Sean

Sean P. Tonolli

Senior Tnvestigative Counsel

Select Committes to Investigate

the January 6th Artack on the United States Capitol
.8, House of Representatives

Jan. 6 Sel. Comm. 0033
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From: "Costello, Robert J." <rjc@dhclegal.com>
To: "'Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov'" <Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: Transfer file from "Epson Connect Scan to Cloud"
Date: Wed, 3 Nov 2021 22:25:00 +0000
Importance: Normal

Attachments: Epson 10132021091453.pdf

From: Costello, Robert J.

Sent: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 12:35 PM

To: 'Justin.Clark@ElectionLawLLC.com' <Justin.Clark@ElectionLawLLC.com>
Subject: FW: Transfer file from "Epson Connect Scan to Cloud”

Justin,

Attached is the letter | received from Congressman Bennie Thompson on behalf of the Select Committee of the
House, responding to my previous letter. The Committee is taking the position that President Trump has not yet
invoked executive and other privileges with respect to the subpoenas received by Steve Bannon and three others
calling for documents and testimony. | direct your attention to the first full paragraph of the letter where Thompson
states that : "the Select Committee has not received any assertion, formal or otherwise, of any privilege from Mr.
Trump."

Apparently they do not recognize your letter to the subpoena recipients as an invocation of executive and other
privileges. | would strongly suggest that a direct communication from you on behalf of President Trump would clarify
the President's position with respect to the document requests and the deposition requests.

Very truly
yours,
Bob
Costelio

IMPORTANT NOTICE: Beware of Cyber Fraud. You should NEVER wire money to any bank account that our office
provides to you via email without first

speaking with our office. Further, DO NOT accept emailed wire instructions from anyone else without voice verification
from a known employee of our office.

Even if an email looks like it has come from this office or someone involved in your transaction,

CALL US FIRST AT A NUMBER YOU KNOW TO BE CORRECT FOR THIS OFFICE to verify the information before
wiring any money.

Be particularly wary of any request to change wire instructions you already received.

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

The information contained in this electronic message and any
attachments to this message are intended for the exclusive use of the
addressee(s) and may contain confidential or privileged information.
If you are not the intended recipient, please notify us immediately

by email reply to sender or by telephone to Davidoff Hutcher & Citron
LLP at (800) 793-2843, ext. 3284, and destroy all copies of this
message and any attachments.

IRS DISCLOSURE NOTICE

In accordance with Internal Revenue Service Circular 230, we inform

you that any discussion of a federal tax issue contained in this
communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written

to be used, and it cannot be used, by any recipient for the purpose of

(i) avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the recipient under

United States federal tax laws, or (ii) promoting, marketing or
recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein.
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BENNIE.G. THOMPSON, MISSISSIPRI
CHAIRMAN

Z0E LOFGREN, CALIFORNIA
ADAM B. SCHIFF, CALIFORNIA
PETE AGUILAR, CALIFORNIA
BTEPHANIE N MURPHY, FLORIDA
JAMIE RASKIN, MARYLAND
ELAINE G LURIA, VIRGINIA

HE CHENEY. WYOMING

ADAM KINZINGER IELINCHS.

.5, Housa of Ragrasentatives
Washingtan, DC 2081%

januarySth. house.gov
{2023 226~7800¢

Doz Hundeed Seventeenth Congress

Setert Committee fo Inuestigate the January Gth Attack on the Wnited States Tapitol

October 8, 2021

Mz Robert I. Costello
Davidoff Hutcher & CJitron LLP
605 Third Avenue, 34th Floor

New York, NY 10158

Dear Mr. Costello,

I write in respqnse to your October 7, 2021 letter which states that your client, Stephen
Bannon, is “legally unpble to comply” with the September 23, 2021 subpoena (the “Subpoena™)
issued by the Select Chmmittee to Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States
Capitol (the “Select Cpmmittec™). Your letter relies on an apparent instruction from former
President Donald Trutnp that appears limited to requesting that Mr. Bannon not disclose
privileged informatior}. Despite this limited instruction, your letter takes the inappropriate

position that Mr. B
by the Select Commi
privileges” that may

refusal to comply wit

You accepted
behalf on September
Mr. Bannon produce
described in the Subp
being conducted by t
the scope of the auth
Resolution 503. In the

on will not comply with any request for information or testimony sought

ee. Moreover, Mr. Trump’s stated “intention to assert those executive
may not belong to him, does not provide a legal basis for Mr. Bannon’s
the Subpoena.

ervice of the Subpoena for documents and testimony on Mr. Bannon's

4, 2021. The Subpoena required that, by October 7, 2021 at 10:00 a.m.,
ertain documents and other records referring or relating to the matters
ena’s schedule. All the requested documents relate directly to the inquiry
Select Committee, serve a legitimate legislative purpose, and are within
ity expressly delegated to the Select Committee pursuant to House

letter accompanying the Subpoena, the Select Committee set forth the

basis for its determinIion that the documents and records sought by the Subpoena and Mr,

Bannon'’s deposition
Select Commiitee.

Your letter ind
“direction” to your cli

stimony are of critical importance to the issues being investigated by the

icates that the sole basis for defiance of the Subpoena is Mr, Trump’s
ent and his decision to “honor [Mr. Trump’s] invocation of executive

privilege.” That positjon has no basis in law, and your letter does not cite any statute, case law,

or other legal precede

Bannon’s actions as

ht for support.

private citizen and involve a broad range of subjects that are not covered

First, virrualla] all the documents and testimony sought by the Subpoena concern Mr.

by executive privileg

. You have provided no basis for Mr. Bannon’s refusal to comply with
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ibpoena not coveré_:d by any privilege. Furthermore, blanket assertions of

the deliberative procesk and attorney-client privileges, such as those apparently requested by Mr.
Trump, have been rejepted by courts as “unsustainablle” even when—unlike the situation with

Mr. Bannon—the sub
and Gov'’t Reform v,
of deliberative proces

“Attorney General has

" Second, the Se
privilege from the Mr.,
permitted to formally
“announced his intenti
aware of any legal aut
privilege absolves a s

Third, your let
extent permitted by la
to the Subpoena.” Evel
period covered by the
permitted by law to th
the contrary, every ¢

oena recipient is an Executive Branch agency. See Comm. on Oversight
Ider, 2014 WL 12662665, at *2 (D.D.C. 2014) (rejecting DOJ’s assertion
privilege on all documents after a particular date and noting that the

not cited any authority that would justify this sort of blanket approach”).

ect Committee has not received any assertion, formal or otherwise, of any
Trump. Even assuming that, as a former President, Mr. Trump is

voke executive privilege, he has not done so. At most, Mr. Trump has

n to assert those executive privileges.” The Select Committee is not

ority, and your letter cites none, holding that the mere intention to assert a
poena recipient of his duty to comply.

er indicates that Mr. Trump has requested that your client “to the fullest

... not provide any testimony concerning privileged material in response
h if your client had been a senior aide to the President during the time
contemplated testimony, which he was most assuredly not, he is not

e type of immunity you suggest that Mr. Trump has requested he assert. To
that has considered the absolute immunity Mr, Trump alludes to has

0
rejected it. See, e.g., }Piow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800 (1982); Comm. on the Judiciary v.

Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2
of absolute immunity

most senior Presidentr

proximity to the Presi
immunity for senior P
private citizens, such 4
official, non-governm

53, 106 (D.D.C. 2008) (rejecting former White House counsel’s assertion
from compelled congressional process). Miers made clear that even the

| advisors may not resist a congressional subpoena “based solely on their
ent.” Id. at 101 (citing Harlow, 457 U.S. at 810)." If there is no absolute
residential advisors, then there certainly can be no such immunity for

s Mr. Bannon, who occasionally communicate with the President on non-
pntal, or campaign-related matters.

Regardless of
ongoing obligation to
all responsive docum
withhold specific resp
provide the Select Co
manner ‘sufficient to
WL 12662665 at *2 (
minimum, provide the
document being withl

y purported privilege assertion by Mr, Trump, Mr. Bannon has an
roduce documents to the Select Committee. Accordingly, please produce
ts and records identified in the Subpoena. Should Mr. Bannon seck to -
nsive documents, consistent with the Subpoena instructions, he must

ittee with a privilege log that “identifies and describes the material in a -
nable resolution of any privilege claims.”” See Comm. on Oversight, 2014
uoting Miers, 558 F. Supp. 2d at 107). Such a privilege log should, at a
author(s) and recipient(s), indicate the general subject matter of each

eld, and the specific basis for withholding it.

! 1t is also worth noting th
immunity from congressid
id. at 62.

it the court in Miers rejected the former White House Counsel’s claim of absoluie
nal testimony even though the sitting President had formally invoked executive privilege.
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Finally, the Sefect Committee expects Mr. Bannon’s appearance at the time and place
designated in the Subppoena for a deposition and respond fully to questions by the Select
Committee. If there arg specific questions at that deposition that you believe raise privilege
issues, Mr. Bannon shfuld state them at that time for the deposition record for the Select
Committee’s considergtion and possible judicial review,

Please be advided that the Select Committee will view Mr. Bannon’s failure to respond to
the Subpoena as willfijl non-compliance with the Subpoena. His willful non-compliance with the
Subpoena would force{the Select Committee to consider invoking the contempt of Congress
procedures in 2 U.S.C| §§ 192, 194—which could result in a referral from the House to the
Department of Justice [for criminal charges—as well as the possibility of having a civil action to
enforce the Subpoena prought against Mr. Bannon in his personal capacity.

Sincerely,

Bennie G. Thompson
Chairman

SKB-000034
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From: Tonolli, Sean

To: Buckley, David; Amerling, Kristin; Heaphy, Tim
Subject: RE: Memo to File re Call with Robert Costello
Date: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 4:28:23 PM

Follow-Up Call with Robert Costello
October 13, 2021
Approximately 4:10pm

e Bob called me at my desk. He expects to send the letter at or before 5pm, but cannot
guarantee it —an unspecified “they” are reviewing the letter before it goes out. He still does
not know whether Justin Clark or anyone else will directly notify the Committee that President
Trump is invoking executive privilege.

e Bob confirmed, again, he and his client are not appearing tomorrow. And again he said there
is no reason to work out logistics for their appearance.

e He asked two questions for future reference, but said he does not need answers tonight or by
tomorrow. He did not characterize these as an effort to engage on arranging for his client to
appear, but that is certainly the thrust of the questions. So | demurred and said | could
answers if and when necessary.

o (1)Isthere a way to allow a lawyer for Trump to participate in the deposition to allow
them to make privilege objections? He knows what the deposition rules state about
third-party attorneys.

o (2) Can a deposition be conducted remotely?

From: Tonolli, Sean

Sent: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 2:33 PM

To: Buckley, David <David.Buckley@mail.house.gov>; Amerling, Kristin
<Kristin.Amerling@mail.house.gov>; Heaphy, Tim <Tim.Heaphy@mail.house.gov>
Subject: Memo to File re Call with Robert Costello

Call with Robert Costello re Steve Bannon Deposition
October 13, 2021
Approximately 1:40pm

e On October 13,2021, at 12:35pm, | emailed Robert (“Bob”) Costello to ask that he call me to
discuss logistics for the deposition of Steve Bannon, scheduled for October 14, 2021, at 10am.

e Bob called me at 1:35pm at my desk phone, but | was unable to pick up. He left a voicemail
and asked me to return his call. | did so at approximately 1:40pm, reaching him on his cell
phone at 516-987-0213. | had the call on speakerphone so that Kevin Elliker could listen as a
witness.

Jan. 6 Sel. Comm. 0054

US-000389
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In sum and substance, Bob said that, as he explained in his October 7 letter, he and his client
are not appearing for the deposition tomorrow. He will be sending a letter later today to
Chairman Thompson further explaining his client’s position.

e The letter is not finalized because of communications Bob has had today with Justin Clark,
President Trump’s attorney. Bob sent Justin the October 8 letter from Chairman Thompson,
which Justin had not previously seen. Bob directed him in particular to the portion that says
President Trump has not notified the Select Committee that he is invoking executive privilege.
Bob told Justin that it would be helpful to Mr. Bannon’s position if President Trump would do
s0. Bob did not represent whether we should expect the notification to come in.

o Whether President Trump notifies the Select Committee or not, Bob said Mr. Bannon'’s
position is the same — he is not coming to the deposition tomorrow. And therefore Bob said
there was no reason to work out logistics for his appearance.

e Bob added that he has asked President Trump, through Justin, to delineate the subject areas
for which he is invoking executive privilege to provide Mr. Bannon more guidance. But to date
that delineation has not been made, and Mr. Bannon’s position is that he is not able to draw
those lines himself. These issues need to be resolved and/or litigated between the Select
Committee and President Trump—he and Mr. Bannon are just “sitting in ring-side seats.”

Sean P. Tonolli
Senior Investigative Counsel
Select Committee to Investigate
the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol
U.S. House of Representatives

Jan. 6 Sel. Comm. 0055

US-000390



Case 1:21-cr-00670-CIJN Document 35-6 Filed 03/08/22 Page 1 of 5

EXHIBIT 6



Case 1:21-cr-00670-CIJN Document 35-6 Filed 03/08/22 Page 2 of 5

From: "Costello, Robert J." <rjc@dhclegal.com>
To: "'Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov'" <Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: October 13, 2021 Benny Thompson Letter
Date: Wed, 3 Nov 2021 22:23:35 +0000
Importance: Normal

Attachments: Bannon_Letter.pdf

From: Costello, Robert J.

Sent: Thursday, October 14, 2021 5:13 PM

To: Steve Bannon <Stephenkbannon@protonmail.com>

Cc: Boris Epshteyn <bepshteyn@gmail.com>; Adam Katz <akatz_ofcounsel@russolaw-llc.com>
Subject: Fwd: October 13, 2021 Benny Thompson Letter

This is not accurate. He definitely stated that Trump was invoking the executive privilege because I told
him the House in Bennie Thompson’s letter to me stated they did not believe that Trump had formally or
informally invoked executive privilege. I sent him Thompson’s letter stating that. I also told him to not leave
anyone guessing he should send an email to the House stating Trump’s invocation of executive privilege.

I don’t know what game Clark is playing but it puts Steve Bannon in a dangerous position. Beware.
Bob

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: Justin Clark <justin.clark@electionlawllc.com>
Date: October 14, 2021 at 4:48:17 PM EDT

To: "Costello, Robert J." <rjc@dhclegal.com>
Subject: October 13,2021 Benny Thompson Letter

CAUTION: EXTERNAL MAIL. DO NOT CLICK ON LINKS OR OPEN ATTACHMENTS YOU DO NOT TRUST

Bob — I just read your letter dated October 13, 2021 to Congressman Benny Thompson. In that letter you
stated that “[a]s recently as today, counsel for President Trump, Justin Clark Esq., informed us that
President Trump is exercising his executive privilege; therefore, he has directed Mr. Bannon not to produce
documents or testify until the issue of executive privilege is resolved.”

SKB-000018

US-000987
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To be clear, in our conversation yesterday I simply reiterated the instruction from my letter to you dated
October 6, 2021, and attached below.

Best Regards,

Justin Clark

IMPORTANT NOTICE:Beware of Cyber Fraud. You should never

wire money to any bank account that our office provides to you via email
without first speaking with our office. Further,do not accept emailed

wiring instructions from anyone else without voice verification from a known
employee of our office. Even if an email looks like it has come from this
office or someone involved in your transaction. Please call us first at a number
you know to be correct for this office to verify the information before wiring
any money. Be particularly wary of any request to change wiring instructions
you already received.

s 3k s sk s ok s ok s sk sk sk sk sk ke sfe ke sfe ke s ok s sk sk sk sfe ok st sk sk sk sk sk sl 3o sl s sl sk sk sk sk sk sk st sk st sk sk sk sk s sk s ok se ok sk sk sk sl s ke sk ke sk sk skosk ok
STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

The information contained in this electronic message and any

attachments to this message are intended for the exclusive use of the
addressee(s) and may contain confidential or privileged information.

If you are not the intended recipient, please notify us immediately

by email reply to sender or by telephone to Davidoff Hutcher & Citron

LLP at (800) 793-2843, ext. 3284, and destroy all copies of this

message and any attachments.

IRS DISCLOSURE NOTICE

In accordance with Internal Revenue Service Circular 230, we inform
you that any discussion of a federal tax issue contained in this
communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written
to be used, and it cannot be used, by any recipient for the purpose of
(1) avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the recipient under
United States federal tax laws, or (ii) promoting, marketing or

recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein.
s 3k 3 st sk ke ske sk ske sk sfe sk sie sk ok sk sk sk sk sk sk ok sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sie sieosie sk sk sk sk sk sk sie sk sk sie sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk kool kol sk sk sk skosk sieokoiok
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ELECTIONS, LLC

Attorneys at Law
Justin R. Clark
E Justin.Clark@ElectionLawLLC.com

October 6, 2021

Mr. Robert J. Costello

Davidoff Hutcher & Citron LLP
605 Third Avenue

New York, NY 10158
rjc@dhclegal.com

Dear Mr. Costello:

I write in reference to a subpoena, dated September 23, 2021, by the Select Committee to
Investigate the January 6th Attack on the United States Capitol (the “Select Committee”), that was
issued to your client Steven Bannon (the “Subpoena”). The Subpoena requests that Mr. Bannon
produce documents by October 7, 2021, and appear for a deposition on October 15, 2021. While
it is obvious that the Select Committee’s obsession with President Trump is merely a partisan
attempt to distract from the disastrous Biden administration (e.g., the embarrassing withdrawal
from Afghanistan, the overwhelming flood of illegal immigrants crossing our southern border, and
growing inflation), President Trump vigorously objects to the overbreadth and scope of these
requests and believes they are a threat to the institution of the Presidency and the independence of
the Executive Branch.

Through the Subpoena, the Select Committee seeks records and testimony purportedly related to
the events of January 6th, 2021, including but not limited to information which is potentially
protected from disclosure by the executive and other privileges, including among others the
presidential communications, deliberative process, and attorney-client privileges. President
Trump is prepared to defend these fundamental privileges in court.

Therefore, to the fullest extent permitted by law, President Trump instructs Mr. Bannon to:
(a) where appropriate, invoke any immunities and privileges he may have from compelled
testimony in response to the Subpoena; (b) not produce any documents concerning privileged
material in response to the Subpoena; and (c) not provide any testimony concerning privileged
material in response to the Subpoena.

1000 Maine Avenue, SW, 4™ Floor | Washington, D.C. 20024

SKB-000020
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Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any
questions or would like to discuss.

Sincerely,

DR

Justin Clark
Counsel to President Trump

SKB-000021
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From: "Costello, Robert J." <rjc@dhclegal.com>
To: "Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov" <Joseph.Cooney@usdoj.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] FW: October 13, 2021 Benny Thompson Letter
Date: Wed, 3 Nov 2021 22:20:20 +0000
Importance: Normal

From: Costello, Robert J.

Sent: Monday, October 18, 2021 1:52 PM

To: 'Justin Clark' <justin.clark@electionlawllc.com>
Subject: RE: October 13, 2021 Benny Thompson Letter

Thank you Justin . Your original letter speaks for itself and that is what we are basing our
communications with the Select Committee on.

Your suggestion that I reach out to counsel for the Committee is curious, considering that
I have asked you to do the same, to confirm that President Trump has invoked executive and
attorney-client privileges.

I believe it is clear that he has invoked, but Congressman Thompson appears confused as
he continues to incorrectly reiterate that President Trump has yet to formally or informally
invoke those privileges. 1 previously provided you with his two letters stating that point.

President Trump’s invocation of those privileges absolutely limits Mr. Bannon’s ability to
testify before Congress and provide documents.

To eliminate all doubt in the Committee’s mind, please confirm to the Committee that
President Trump has invoked executive and attorney-client privileges before Tuesday when
the Committee plans to vote regarding Mr. Bannon.

Thanks,

Bob
Costello

SKB-000015
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From: Justin Clark <justin.clark@electionlawllc.com>
Sent: Saturday, October 16, 2021 12:24 PM
To: Costello, Robert J. <rjc@dhclegal.com>
Subject: Re: October 13, 2021 Benny Thompson Letter

CAUTION: EXTERNAL MAIL. DO NOT CLICK ON LINKS OR OPEN ATTACHMENTS YOU DO NOT TRUST

Bob - In light of press reports regarding your client I wanted to reach out. Just to reiterate, our letter
referenced below didn’t indicate that we believe there is immunity from testimony for your client. As I
indicated to you the other day, we don’t believe there is. Now, you may have made a different
determination. That is entirely your call. But as I also indicated the other day other avenues to invoke the
privilege - if you believe it to be appropriate - exist and are your responsibility.

If you haven’t already I’d encourage you again to contact counsel for the committee to discuss it further.

Justin

On Oct 14, 2021, at 4:48 PM, Justin Clark <justin.clark@electionlawllc.com> wrote:

Bob — I just read your letter dated October 13, 2021 to Congressman Benny Thompson. In that letter you
stated that “[a]s recently as today, counsel for President Trump, Justin Clark Esq., informed us that
President Trump is exercising his executive privilege; therefore, he has directed Mr. Bannon not to produce
documents or testify until the issue of executive privilege is resolved.”

To be clear, in our conversation yesterday I simply reiterated the instruction from my letter to you dated
October 6, 2021, and attached below.

Best Regards,

Justin Clark

<Bannon Letter.pdf>

IMPORTANT NOTICE:Beware of Cyber Fraud. You should never

wire money to any bank account that our office provides to you via email
without first speaking with our office. Further,do not accept emailed

wiring instructions from anyone else without voice verification from a known
employee of our office. Even if an email looks like it has come from this
office or someone involved in your transaction. Please call us first at a number
you know to be correct for this office to verify the information before wiring
any money. Be particularly wary of any request to change wiring instructions

you already received.
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STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
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The information contained in this electronic message and any
attachments to this message are intended for the exclusive use of the
addressee(s) and may contain confidential or privileged information.
If you are not the intended recipient, please notify us immediately

by email reply to sender or by telephone to Davidoff Hutcher & Citron
LLP at (800) 793-2843, ext. 3284, and destroy all copies of this
message and any attachments.

IRS DISCLOSURE NOTICE

In accordance with Internal Revenue Service Circular 230, we inform
you that any discussion of a federal tax issue contained in this
communication (including any attachments) is not intended or written
to be used, and it cannot be used, by any recipient for the purpose of
(i) avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the recipient under
United States federal tax laws, or (ii) promoting, marketing or

recommending to another party any tax-related matters addressed herein.
s s sk 3k s s sfe sk sk sk sk sk sk sk ok e sfe sfe sl sk sk sk sk sk sk ke s sfe sk sk sk sk sk sk sk sk st sfe sk sl sk sk sk sfe sk ok ke s s sk sk sk sk e sk sk ke sk st sieskoskoske ke sl sk sk ke ok

Page 4 of 4

SKB-000017

US-000986





